IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
STATE OF TEORIDA,)
Plaintiff/Appellee,)
)
V.)
)
JOHN ERROLL FERGUSON, or)
DOROTHY FERGUSON, Individually)
and as Next Friend on Behalf of)
JOHN ERROLL FERGUSON)
)
Defendant/Appellant.)
)

Case No. 96,658

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(i), Appellant John Ferguson

("Ferguson"), an inmate on Florida's death row, appeals the Order of the Eleventh

Judicial Circuit summarily denying his Motion to Reinstate Certain Post-Conviction

Claims and Stay Further 3.850 Proceedings ("Motion").

Ferguson's Motion raises significant issues that are, as this Court has

STATEMENT OF CASE

Ferguson's Motion is based upon a recent fundamental change in Florida law requiring that a defendant be competent to assist counsel in certain postconviction proceedings. On December 1, 1987, counsel for Ferguson filed a Motion to Stay 3.850 proceedings on the ground that Ferguson was incompetent to assist counsel in those proceedings. The trial court rejected that motion on February 23, 1989, based, <u>inter alia</u>, on this Court's holding in <u>Jackson</u> v. <u>State</u>, 452 So. 2d 533, 537 (Fla. 1984), that a criminal defendant need not be competent to assist counsel in

^{1/} See Tr. of First Aug. 18, 1999, Proceedings at 4-5 ("Tr. I (Aug. 18, 1999)") (Appendix Exhibit 1).

preparing and pursuing a 3.850 motion. <u>State v. Ferguson</u>, Nos. 77-28650D, 78-5248 (Fla. Cir. Ct. Feb. 23, 1989) at 13 (citing <u>Jackson</u>, 452 So. 2d at 537) ("Order Denying Motion to Stay"), R. at 4:17. <u>2</u>/

This Court now has squarely rejected that conclusion of law. In <u>Carter</u> v. <u>State</u>, 706 So. 2d at 875-876, this Court held that collateral proceedings involving factual claims that require an incompetent defendant's assistance must be stayed until the defendant becomes competent to assist counsel. The Court based this holding on its conclusion that post-conviction proceedings would be "practically meaningless" if a defendant were not able to assist counsel with such factual matters. <u>Id.</u>

As shown below, Ferguson was plainly incompetent during his postconviction proceedings, and his input on several factual issues was essential to the development of his collateral claims. Thus, under <u>Carter</u>, Ferguson's postconviction proceedings were "practically meaningless." Id. But, in dismissing the

^{2/} Documents included in the Record of Appeal are cited herein as "R. at [Vol.]:[Page]." The four-volume Record of Appeal consists of Volumes 1-3, containing pages 1-500, and one unnumbered volume, containing pages 1-38. The unnumbered volume is cited herein as Volume 4.

instant Motion, the trial court refused even to consider <u>Carter</u>'s relevance to Ferguson's case. Instead, the trial court found that Ferguson is precluded from asserting his incompetence at this time due to a 1989 finding by Judge Snyder that Ferguson was competent to assist post-conviction counsel.

As demonstrated below, the trial court's ruling violated the most basic principles of issue preclusion. Judge Snyder's ruling cannot prevent litigation of Ferguson's competence because that finding was made in the alternative, and, furthermore, though appealed by Ferguson, it was never reviewed by this Court. In addition, Judge Snyder's 1989 ruling should not be accorded preclusive effect because it was clearly erroneous. Even the State now acknowledges, and has successfully argued in three separate legal proceedings, that Ferguson suffers from schizophrenia. And it is well-established that in 99% of men with schizophrenia, the initial onset of the disease is earlier than Ferguson's age in 1989. See infra at 29-31. Any argument that Ferguson was "malingering," as found by Judge Snyder, has been proven false by subsequent events, including a life-threatening episode that occurred when one of Ferguson's doctors temporarily reduced his anti-psychotic medication.

The undisputed record demonstrates that Ferguson suffered, and continues to suffer, from schizophrenia, a serious mental disease, which rendered him incompetent. As a result, Ferguson was utterly unable to assist his counsel in developing crucial claims during his 3.850 proceeding. Ferguson is entitled to reinstate that proceeding now so that the Court can consider the application of the holding in <u>Carter</u> to his case.

Counsel submits that the Court can find on the current record that Ferguson is -- and has been at least since 1987, when the 3.850 motion was filed -incompetent to assist counsel. Alternatively, if this Court declines to rule on the basis of the current record, Ferguson requests that the Court remand the Motion to the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing to resolve the issue of his competence. If the Court finds that Ferguson was incompetent in 1987, Ferguson requests that the Court reinstate certain of his 3.850 claims pursuant to <u>Carter</u> in order that these claims can be meaningfully considered.

 $\underline{3}$ / Furthermore, if the Court finds that Ferguson is incompetent today (as

 $[\]underline{3}$ / As explained in Ferguson's Motion, he is seeking to reinstate only those 3.850 claims that require his assistance with factual matters. Specifically, counsel seeks to reinstate claims AII, (continued...)

acknowledged by the State), Ferguson requests that the Court stay the reinstated3.850 proceedings until such time as he becomes competent and can assist counsel.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Ferguson was convicted of murder and related charges in two separate cases in 1978 and sentenced to death. In July 1982, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed his convictions but reversed the death sentences because the trial court improperly failed to consider and weigh statutory mitigating factors and because it relied on invalid statutory aggravating factors. <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 1982). On remand for resentencing, a different judge sentenced Ferguson to death in both cases without impaneling a jury and without any evidentiary hearing. This Court affirmed. Ferguson v. State, 474 So. 2d 208 (Fla. 1985).

Through volunteer counsel, Ferguson timely filed a motion for post-

conviction relief in the Dade County Circuit Court under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

^{(...}continued)

AIV, and B from his initial Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (filed Oct. 15, 1987), and claims I, II, and VI from the Supplement to 3.850 Petition (filed Sept. 8, 1989). <u>See</u> Motion to Reinstate Certain Post-Conviction Claims and Stay Further 3.850 Proceedings at 3 n.1, R. at 1:8; <u>see also</u> R. 1:101, 111, 152. Certain pages of Ferguson's initial 3.850 Motion are missing from the record; counsel has attached a complete copy of that Motion as Exhibit 2 to the Appendix. Counsel has also moved to supplement the record with those missing pages. <u>See</u> Appellant's Motion to Supplement Record (January 21, 2000).

During the course of the post-conviction proceedings, counsel sought a stay on the ground that Ferguson was incompetent to participate or assist them in the proceedings. The Circuit Court denied the motion for a stay on February 23, 1989, holding, in reliance upon Jackson v. State, that "incompetency is not an issue for a court to address when a motion for post-conviction relief is filed." Order Denying Motion to Stay at 9, R. at 4:13. The court also purported to find in the alternative that Ferguson was feigning his symptoms and did not suffer from a major mental illness, <u>id.</u> -- a finding that was not necessary to the decision, and was clearly erroneous. See infra at 14-32.

The trial court proceeded to deny Ferguson's 3.850 motion on June 19, 1990. This Court affirmed. Ferguson v. State, 593 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1992). In its ruling, this Court declared "without merit" Ferguson's claim that "these proceedings should be stayed pending another determination that Ferguson is competent to proceed." Id. at 513. 4/ This Court later denied state habeas relief on unrelated

 $[\]frac{4}{}$ This ruling is contrary to <u>Carter</u> v. <u>State</u>, 706 So. 2d at 875, where this Court held that "a trial court must hold a competency hearing in a post-conviction proceeding [when] a capital defendant shows there are specific factual matters at issue that require the defendant to competently consult with counsel."

grounds. <u>Ferguson</u> v. <u>Singletary</u>, 632 So. 2d 53 (Fla. 1993), <u>reh'g denied</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly 101 (Fla. 1994).

On July 10, 1999, Ferguson filed the instant Motion to Reinstate Certain Post-Conviction Claims and Stay Further 3.850 Proceedings in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit. R. at 1:1. On July 15, 1999, during a routine call to the clerk's office to confirm that the Motion had been received, counsel for Ferguson learned that a Report on the Motion had been scheduled for the next day, July 16, 1999. Counsel had received no notice of the Report. Subsequently, the Report was rescheduled to August 18, 1999. Once again, counsel received no notice, and learned of the rescheduled Report only by calling the clerk's office. Counsel for the State likewise did not receive notice of the Report, and learned about it only from Ferguson's counsel. Affidavit of Kristen Donoghue at 1 (Appendix Exhibit 3).

Counsel were not the only people who did not receive notice of the Report. When Judge Ferrer reached the Motion on his calendar the morning of August 18, he indicated that he had not scheduled the Report, he had no idea how it got on his calendar, and he had not even read Ferguson's Motion. <u>See</u> Tr. of First Aug. 18, 1999, Proceeding at 4-5 ("Tr. I (Aug. 18, 1999)") (Appendix Exhibit 1). <u>5</u>/ In fact, until counsel informed him, Judge Ferrer did not know what the Motion was about. <u>See id.</u>

Nevertheless, Judge Ferrer summarily dismissed Ferguson's Motion after hearing brief argument from both sides. On the record, the court indicated that it dismissed Ferguson's Motion because Judge Snyder had previously found Ferguson to be competent, a fact that, in the court's view, precluded further litigation on the issue. Tr. of Second Aug. 18, 1999, Proceeding at 5, 6-7 ("Tr. II (Aug. 18, 1999)"), R. at 4:23, 24-25. The court did not address Ferguson's argument that Judge Snyder's ruling could not preclude further litigation of Ferguson's competence because it was neither reached on appeal nor necessary to the judgment. Rather, the court found that "collateral estoppel [does not] apply anyway; because competency is fluid and a person can be competent at one time and incompetent in another time." Tr. II (Aug. 18, 1999) at 6-7, R. at 4:24-25.

On August 27, 1999, the clerk filed the court's Order Denying

^{5/} This portion of the transcript was also omitted from the Record. Counsel for Ferguson has included it in Appellant's Motion to Supplement the Record. See supra note 3.

Defendant's Pro Se [sic] Motion, which stated as its only grounds for dismissal that Ferguson's Motion was "insufficient to support the relief prayed." <u>See</u> Order of Judge Alex E. Ferrer (filed August 27, 1999) ("First Order"), R. at 3:481. Subsequently, the judge signed a two-page written Order which stated as the grounds for dismissal that Ferguson had already been given a "full and fair evidentiary hearing" on his competence before Judge Snyder. <u>See</u> Order Denying Motion to Reinstate Certain Post-Conviction Claims and Stay Further 3.850 Proceedings (signed September 10, 1999) ("Second Order"), R. at 4:4. The court acknowledged in that Order that it did not reach any of Ferguson's additional arguments, including the retroactivity of <u>Carter</u>. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

John Ferguson suffers from schizophrenia and is not competent to assist counsel in his post-conviction proceedings. Twenty-four years' worth of psychiatric evaluations -- including dozens of assessments from state medical personnel -- consistently bear witness to that fact. But in 1989, the trial court denied Ferguson's motion to stay proceedings on his 3.850 motion, concluding, on the basis of Jackson, that a capital defendant was "not entitled to a judicial determination of his competency to assist counsel . . . in preparing a 3.850 motion" because post-conviction proceedings were "civil in nature, rather than criminal." 452 So. 2d at 537. In addition, ruling in the alternative, the court found that Ferguson was in fact competent to assist counsel. Rejecting a string of psychiatric assessments dating back to 1965, the judge reviewing Ferguson's motion to stay concluded that Ferguson's long history of mental illness was just a remarkable stretch of malingering and that Ferguson "does not suffer from a major mental illness." Order Denying Motion to Stay at 9, R. at 4:13.

State, supra.The Court recognized for the first time in Carter that "a trial court

<u>must</u> hold a competency hearing in a postconviction proceeding" when a capital defendant "shows there are specific factual matters at issue that require the defendant to competently consult with counsel." 706 So. 2d at 875 (emphasis added). In those circumstances, a defendant's competency is "crucial to a proper determination" of his claims; otherwise, an incompetent defendant's post-conviction proceedings would be "practically meaningless." <u>Id.</u>

This Court's decision in <u>Carter</u> requires reinstatement of several claims Ferguson raised in his 3.850 motion for post-conviction relief. <u>Carter</u> announced a new and significant constitutional principle -- a principle the judge reviewing Ferguson's motion rejected outright -- that a capital defendant is entitled to a determination of competence in post-conviction proceedings where factual matters are at issue, lest the proceedings be a "meaningless" exercise. Following <u>Carter</u>, Ferguson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his competence where he was entitled to none before. His 3.850 motion raises factual claims that require his assistance to develop, <u>Carter</u> squarely applies, and claims fitting <u>Carter</u>'s specifications should therefore be reinstated.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has exclusive jurisdiction to review the lower court's denial of Ferguson's Motion. Ferguson is under a sentence of death, and the Supreme Court of Florida possesses "exclusive jurisdiction to review all types of collateral proceedings in death penalty cases." <u>State v. Fourth Dist. Court of Appeal.</u> 697 So. 2d 70, 71 (Fla. 1997); <u>see also State v. Matute-Chirinos</u>, 713 So. 2d 1006, 1008 (Fla. 1998) (same).

The lower court dismissed Ferguson's motion based upon a legal conclusion: that Judge Snyder's 1989 ruling precludes Ferguson from relitigating his competence at this time. Second Order at 2, R. at 4:4. As a result, the appropriate standard of review is <u>de novo</u>. <u>Blanco</u> v. <u>State</u>, 706 So. 2d 7, 10 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 119 S. Ct. 96 (1998) (questions of law subject to <u>de novo</u> review by appellate court); <u>Stanfield v. Osborne Indus., Inc.</u>, 949 P.2d 602, 608 (Kan. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 119 S. Ct. 84 (1998) (whether the doctrine of issue preclusion applies in a certain situation is a question of law subject to unlimited <u>de novo</u> review); <u>Farrell v. Mountain Folk, Inc.</u>, 730 A.2d 597, 599 (Vt. 1999) (same).

ARGUMENT

I. FERGUSON IS ENTITLED TO RENEWED CONSIDERATION OF HIS COMPETENCE TO ASSIST COUNSEL REGARDLESS OF JUDGE SNYDER'S EARLIER RULING.

In summarily dismissing Ferguson's Motion, the court below did not reach most of the issues presented by Ferguson, including the retroactivity of <u>Carter</u> and the clearly erroneous nature of Judge Snyder's finding of competence. Second Order at 2, R. at 4:4. Instead, the court dismissed the Motion on just one ground: that Judge Snyder had given Ferguson "a full and fair evidentiary hearing" on his competence that constituted "due process of law." <u>Id</u>. Based on that conclusion alone, and despite the fundamental change in law brought about by <u>Carter</u>, the court precluded Ferguson from raising his incompetence.

Notwithstanding Judge Snyder's determination -- and for reasons the trial court refused even to consider -- Ferguson is entitled to renewed consideration of his competence in light of <u>Carter</u>. First, Judge Snyder's ruling on Ferguson's competence was explicitly made in the alternative. Judge Snyder also found, contrary to <u>Carter</u>, that Ferguson was not entitled to be competent to assist postconviction counsel. Order Denying Motion to Stay at 9, R. at 4:13. As a result, Judge Snyder's competence ruling was not necessary to the judgment, and cannot be used to preclude further litigation. Second, though raised, Ferguson's competence

was not reviewed on appeal. As a consequence, Ferguson was denied the opportunity fully to litigate the issue, and cannot be precluded from raising it at this

time.

A. Judge Snyder's 1989 Ruling Has No Preclusive Effect Because It Was Made In The Alternative.

As explicitly acknowledged in his written Order, Judge Snyder denied Ferguson's motion to stay his post-conviction proceedings for two alternative reasons. First, relying upon <u>Jackson</u>, Judge Snyder held (contrary to <u>Carter</u>) that "incompetency is not an issue for a court to address when a motion for post-conviction relief is filed." Order Denying Motion to Stay at 9, R. at 4:13. Second, he concluded (erroneously

and unnecessarily) that Ferguson was competent. Id.

These prior rulings do not preclude Ferguson from obtaining a new competency determination under <u>Carter</u>. It is elementary that "[i]f a judgment of a court of first instance is based on determinations of two issues, either of which standing independently would be sufficient to support the result, the judgment is not

conclusive with respect to either issue standing alone." <u>Restatement (Second) of</u> <u>Judgments § 27 cmt. i (1982).</u> <u>6</u>/ Underlying this principle is the conviction that "a

determination in the alternative may not have been as carefully or rigorously considered as it would have if it had been necessary to the result, and in that sense, it has some of the characteristics of dicta." <u>Id.</u> Likewise, preclusive effect is not accorded any determination that was "nonessential" to an earlier judgment. <u>See id.</u> at cmt. h ("If issues are determined but the judgment is not dependent upon the determinations, relitigation of those issues . . . is not precluded."). Nonessential determinations, like alternative judgments, "have the characteristics of dicta," and, as such, the "interest in providing an opportunity for a considered determination . . .

outweighs the interest in avoiding the burden of relitigation." Id. $\underline{7}$ /

^{6/} This Court has relied on the authority of the <u>Restatement (Second) of Judgments</u> on numerous occasions. <u>See, e.g., Crosby</u> v. Jones, 705 So. 2d 1356, 1358 (Fla. 1998) (citing § 51); <u>Whitehurst</u> v. <u>Camp</u>, 699 So. 2d 679, 684 n.2 (Fla. 1997) (citing § 18); <u>JFK Med. Ctr.</u> v. <u>Price</u>, 647 So. 2d 833, 834 n.1 (Fla. 1994) (citing § 51); <u>Zeidwig</u> v. <u>Ward</u>, 548 So. 2d 209, 209, 213-214 (Fla. 1989) (approving rationale expressed in § 85).

^{7/ &}quot;Nonessential determinations" are also denied preclusive effect because they "may not ordinarily be the subject of an appeal by the party against whom they were made." <u>Restatement</u> (Second) of Judgments § 27 cmt. h, i (1982). This notion also weighs in favor of denying preclusive effect to Judge Snyder's ruling. As discussed below, although Ferguson appealed Judge Snyder's finding that he was competent, this Court did not reach that issue, affirming instead Judge Snyder's ruling that Ferguson did not have the right to be competent. <u>Ferguson</u> v. (continued...)

Florida adheres to these basic principles of issue preclusion. Thus, Florida courts do not bar relitigation of previously decided issues where the judgment "could be grounded upon an issue other than that which [the other party] seeks to foreclose from consideration." <u>Davis</u> v. <u>State</u>, 645 So. 2d 66, 67 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1994).

See also Peabody Coal Co. v. Spese, 117 F.3d 1001, 1008 (7th Cir. 1997)
("[H]oldings in the alternative, either of which would independently be sufficient to support a result, are not conclusive in subsequent litigation with respect to either issue standing alone."); <u>Deweese v. Town of Palm Beach</u>, 688 F.2d 731, 734 (11th Cir. 1982) (declining to preclude further litigation on previously litigated issue when

alternative ground existed for holding). Nor does issue preclusion apply to nonessential judgments. Florida precludes litigation of previously decided issues only if identical parties seek to relitigate issues that are "identical to <u>necessary</u> and material issues" resolved in an earlier suit. <u>Seaboard Coast Line R.R. Co.</u> v. <u>Cox</u>, 338 So. 2d 190, 191 (Fla. 1976) (emphasis added); <u>St. Louis & S.F. R.R. Co.</u> v.

(...continued)

<u>State</u>, 593 So. 2d at 513. This fact provides another independent ground for denying preclusive effect to Judge Snyder's ruling. <u>See infra</u> Section IIB.

<u>Wilson</u>, 338 So. 2d 192, 194 (Fla. 1976) (same). <u>&/</u>

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