#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,658

JOHN ERROLL FERGUSON, etc.,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

FARIBA N. KOMEILY Florida Bar No. 0375934 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441

# **

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Appellant is attempting to relitigate post-conviction proceedings in the trial court which have been final for many years. Contrary to the Appellant's argument, the Appellant received a full and fair competency hearing in conjunction with those former post-conviction proceedings; the hearing conducted by the lower court was not, in any way, inadequate. Furthermore, the Appellant sought and obtained full appellate review of those former post-conviction proceedings, including the extensive competency hearing, in this Court. There is no basis for either this Court or the trial court to revisit that which was fully litigated many years ago. The lower court properly summarily denied the Defendant's claim as a successive attempt to raise issues previously raised and rejected on the merits.

## **ARGUMENT**

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION SEEKING TO REOPEN POST-CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS.

This Court, in <u>Carter v. State</u>, 706 So. 2d 873, 875 (Fla. 1997), held that, "a judicial determination of competency is required when there are reasonable grounds to believe that a capital defendant is incompetent to proceed in post-conviction proceedings in which factual matters are at issue, the development or resolution of which requires the defendant's input." The Appellant contends that <u>Carter</u> allows him to reopen the prior 1987 post-conviction proceedings and obtain another competency hearing. The Appellant has ignored the fact that despite <u>Carter</u> having been decided in 1997, the Defendant herein obtained the benefit of <u>Carter</u> a decade earlier, during his 1987 post-conviction proceedings. The Appellant in fact obtained "a judicial determination of competency" prior to the filing and resolution of his substantive post-conviction claims.

As set forth in the Statement of Facts at pp. 4-5, the 1987 post-conviction judge, upon motion by defense counsel, appointed at least six (6) mental health experts to examine the Defendant for competency. The Defendant retained three (3) additional experts of his own. Upon request by the defense, the judge also ordered numerous

tests such as an MRI, a CAT scan, an EEG, a neurological sensory exam, neuropsychological evaluation, blood tests, etc. After such extensive preparation, the post-conviction court then conducted a 3-day evidentiary hearing "on the question of Defendant's competency to participate in these post-conviction proceedings." (R. 8). At said hearing, the post-conviction court considered and evaluated testimony from two (2) psychiatrists, two (2) psychologists, one (1) psychiatrist/neurologist, one (1) neurologist, one (1) document examiner on the defendant's various correspondence, and five (5) corrections officers, who throughout the years had observed the Defendant's behavior at both Florida State prison and the Dade County jail. (R. 8, 11). The post-conviction judge then meticulously summarized the evidence presented, along with its strengths and weaknesses, as detailed in pp. 5-9, herein. See also R. 9-12. Based upon said evidence, the judge found that, "there is substantial competent evidence to find that the Defendant does not suffer from a major mental illness, and that he has the present ability to understand the proceedings and to assist counsel if he so chooses." (R. 12) (emphasis added). The judge had expressly utilized the same criteria required in Carter:

In determining whether the Defendant is presently competent to proceed with these post-conviction proceedings, this Court has utilized the test established in <u>Dusky v. United States</u>, 362 U.S. 402, 80 S.Ct. 788, 4 L.Ed. 2d 824 (1960), for determining a defendant's competency to

stand trial. The test is whether a defendant "has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding—and whether he has a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him." <u>Id.</u> at 402. <u>See also Hill v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1985).

(R. 12). After having expressly concluded that the Defendant was competent, the post-conviction court stated that in the "alternative," competency was not at issue in post-conviction proceedings:

#### ADDITIONAL CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Although this court has determined that the Defendant is competent to proceed with these post-conviction proceedings, this court finds that the Defendant's motion to stay the post-conviction proceedings should be denied on the alternative grounds that incompetency is not an issue for a court to address when a motion for post-conviction relief is filed.

(R. 13) (emphasis added).

As is abundantly clear from the above, the Appellant received the benefit of Carter in his prior post-conviction proceeding. The lower court's summary dismissal of the Defendant's attempt to relitigate the very same issues raised and rejected in his prior post-conviction proceedings was proper under Florida law. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851, 3.850(f) ("A second or successive motion may be dismissed if the judge finds

that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and the prior determination was on the merits"); Mills v. State, 684 So.2 d 801, 804, n. 3 (Fla. 1996); Clark v. State, 569 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 1990).

The Appellant, in the lower court, argued that "collateral estoppel" did not preclude the relitigation of his claims, because of the "alternative" ruling by the prior post-conviction court pursuant to <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1984). The Appellant has taken the same position in this Court, as seen in his reliance upon <u>Downs</u> v. State, 645 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). See also Brief of Appellant at p. 19. The doctrine of "collateral estoppel," however, is part of the guarantee against double jeopardy, as embodied in the Fifth Amendment, and serves to preclude the State from prosecuting a second charge when it has previously suffered an adverse finding as to some fact which is essential to the prosecution of this second charge. Simpson v. Florida, 403 U.S. 384 (1971); State v. McCord, 407 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 1981); Davis, supra. It has no applicability to these post-conviction proceedings. As noted above, these proceedings are governed by Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851 and 3.850, which preclude relitigation of claims raised and rejected in prior post-conviction proceedings. The Defendant herein received "a judicial determination of competence," as required in Carter, 706 So. 2d at 875, in the prior proceedings. The fact that the judge made an "alternative" ruling, after having ruled upon the merits and expressly found the Defendant competent, has no bearing on this case.

The Appellant's claim that he was deprived of the right to appeal the prior post-conviction court's factual findings is equally without merit. The relevant portions of the Appellant's brief in the prior appellate proceedings in this Court have been detailed herein at pp. 12-14. The Appellant in that brief expressly argued that the finding of competency after the 3-day evidentiary hearing at issue, was not "a valid determination," because the judge should have been recused, and his findings were "not supported by" the "record." Initial Brief of Appellant, FSC Case No. 76458, at pp. 5-7. The Appellant had then requested that all post-conviction proceedings, be "stayed," "until a valid determination has been made that Ferguson is competent to assist his counsel." Id. This Court, in accordance with the Appellant's own phrasing of the issue, then rejected the claim as "without merit," having characterized the claim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Appellant had claimed that an instance of "ex parte" by the judge in trying to facilitate the scheduling of the tests requested by the defense, in light of the difficulties with defense counsel being an out-of-state practitioner, was grounds for recusal. A motion for recusal had been filed a year after counsel had first been apprised, and was denied. Appellant then filed for a writ of prohibition which was unanimously denied by this Court. Ferguson v. Singletary, FSC Case No. 74,186. A petition for a writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court was likewise denied. 107 L.Ed. 2d 341 (1989).

as "(1) these proceedings should be stayed pending another determination that Ferguson is competent to proceed." 593 So.2 d at 513.

The Appellant now claims that the above use of the word "another" means that this Court had held that the Defendant was only entitled to one competency determination at trial, and not to "another" during post-conviction proceedings, in accordance with <u>Jackson</u>. <u>See</u> Brief of Appellant at p. 21. The Appellant's construction, in light of the briefs of the parties, and the record herein, is utterly without merit. The record before this Court reflected both a competency hearing at trial, and another 3-day hearing during post-conviction proceedings. The Defendant's claim was that yet another post-conviction hearing was necessary, which this Court rejected.

In the alternative, if, in fact, this Court concluded that, for some reason, the substantive question of Ferguson's competence was not considered in the 1992 appeal, the remedy would not be that which was requested in the lower court - i.e., further trial court hearings on competency. The competency issue was fully litigated in the trial court in a full and fair and extensive evidentiary hearing. There is a full record of that competency hearing from the 1992 appeal. The substantive issue of competency was fully briefed in this Court by both parties in the 1992 appeal. The State, in the

Appendix to this Brief, has included the argument regarding the sufficiency of evidence at the previous competency hearing. Whether in an independent habeas corpus proceeding in this Court, or, as part of this proceeding, the most relief that could conceivably exist, under any circumstances, would be the appellate review of the previous determination that Ferguson was competent. That should not be a license to consider any allegations from new experts who did not testify at that hearing, as there has been no showing that the extensive evidentiary hearing on competency was in any way inadequate. Thus, to the extent needed, the State relies on its prior argument, from the 1992 appeal, that the record reflects, by substantial, competent evidence, that the Defendant was competent at the relevant times in 1988.

Furthermore, to the extent that the Appellant may be relying on hospitalizations or opinions of experts years after the prior post-conviction proceedings in 1988, the State would note that not only have these opinions never been tested in any court, but that such events have no bearing on whether the Defendant was properly found to be competent at that time. Competency, as noted by the lower court, is fluid, and a person can be competent at one time, and incompetent at another time. (R. 25). The issue of competency herein relates solely to what was established at the prior hearing.

In sum, the lower court properly dismissed the instant attempt to relitigate an issue previously raised and rejected on the merits in accordance with the very case law now relied upon by the Appellant. The only complaint herein is that the prior post-conviction court gave the Appellant the benefit of <u>Carter 10</u> years before the decision was announced by this Court.

The State recognizes that the Appellant has also complained that the lower court's reliance upon the prior finding of competence was "misplaced," that the court should have "reach[ed]" the issue of Defendant's prior competence, and should have overruled the prior judge's findings. Brief of Appellant at pp. 23-32. However, such a procedure would clearly violate Florida's prohibition against successive postconviction motions which seek to relitigate issues previously raised and rejected, and would further seriously damage the basic concepts of law of the case and finality. The instant case is, after all, a classic case of relitigation. The Appellant has even suggested that another determination of Ferguson's 1988 competency be made where, "[t]he same witnesses who testified [in 1988] could be recalled, if necessary, and the same reports submitted into evidence." Brief of Appellant at p. 46. Of course, according to the Appellant, "the factual conclusions" drawn by the prior judge should be "owed no deference; they were not necessary to the judgment and were clearly erroneous." Id.

There is no authority for ignoring the factual findings of the judge who assessed the credibility of witnesses. Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 389-90 (Fla. 1994). The lower court's summary denial of any request to overrule prior findings affirmed by this Court, was in accordance with Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850(f). It was also in accordance with the stated purpose for Carter: "The timely commencement and resolution of post conviction proceedings." 706 So. 2d at 877.

Likewise, the Appellant's complaint that the lower court did not decide "whether Carter could be applied retroactively to Ferguson," is also without merit. Brief of Appellant at p. 32. The retroactivity of Carter was not and is not at issue in the instant case. As is abundantly clear herein, this Defendant received the benefit of Carter a decade prior to its announcement by this Court. The lower court thus properly declined to reach the issue. The State would note, however, that the decision does not mention any "constitutional" basis. The purpose, as set forth in Carter, was as follows:

We adopt these procedures in the hope of ensuring the consideration of all viable collateral claims a death-row inmate may have, thereby furthering society's interest in the proper imposition of the death sentence while at the same time promoting the timely commencement and resolution of postconviction proceedings.

706 So. 2d at 876-77.

Finally, the "factual circumstances" alleged to require the Defendant's consultation and assistance herein are entirely without merit. Appellant has first stated that consultation with the Defendant is necessary to establish ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate mental health and childhood abuse background, and to show that the Hitchcock error was not harmless. The Appellant has neglected to mention that after being found competent in the prior proceedings, another postconviction judge conducted extensive evidentiary hearings on these claims. Trial counsel had had several mental health experts examine the Defendant, had spoken with these experts, and had reviewed reports detailing the Defendant's mental health history. They had also delved into his family background by interviewing family members. 593 So.2 d at 510-13. These witnesses and yet other experts and family members were also available to post-conviction counsel, and in fact utilized at the evidentiary hearing. Id. Appellant has not stated what additional information from the Defendant would be necessary.

The Appellant also claims assistance from the Defendant to be necessary for the resolution of a prior <u>Brady</u> claim involving collateral crimes by some of the investigatory police officers (the Alonso prosecution). The first and foremost element

of a Brady violation is, however, the State's suppression of information. Breedlove v. State, 580 So. 2d 605, 606-607 (Fla. 1991). The Appellee fails to see how the Defendant can assist in establishing that the State suppressed evidence. Moreover, Breedlove, supra, addressed the same Brady claim arising out of the Alonso prosecution, and in the context of Breedlove's 1979 jury trial and conviction. This Court concluded that the prosecution, at the time of the trial, was not on notice of the detectives' crimes, and thus did not suppress any evidence. The Court further held that the evidence of the Alonso officers' collateral crimes was not admissible, and thus not material under <u>Brady</u>. Lastly, the Appellant has stated that the Defendant could assist in establishing a <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 77 (1986), violation. <u>Batson</u>, however, was decided years after the trial herein, and is not applicable retroactively, pursuant to Allen v. Hardy, 478 U.S. 295 (1986). This kind of legally barred claim does not require any assistance from the Defendant either. Carter, 706 So. 2d at 876, n. 4.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, the order of the lower court denying post-conviction relief should be affirmed.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

## Attorney General

FARIBA N. KOMEILY Florida Bar No. 0375934 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441